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1 . 	 K E Y  E N T I T Y  I N F O R M A T I O N  A N D 
M A N A G E M E N T

(a)	 Background information

Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI) is a State Corporation established through 
the Science and Technology (Amendment) Act of 1979, which has since been amended 
to Science, Technology and Innovation Act 2013. The 1979 Act established KEMRI as a 
National body responsible for carrying out health research in Kenya.

(b)	Principal Activities

Vision

To be a leading centre of excellence in research for human health.

Mission

To improve human health and quality of life through research, capacity building, innovation 
and service delivery

Institute’s Motto: 

The motto of the Institute is “In Search of Better Health” towards the realization of the mission. 

Core Values 

•	 Purity

•	 Innovativeness

•	 Customer Focus

•	 Team Work

•	 Uprightness and integrity

•	 Respect and Fairness

•	 Excellence
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Mandates 

•	 To carry out research in human health.

•	 To cooperate with other research organizations and institutions of higher learning on matters 
of relevant research and training.

•	 To liaise with other relevant bodies within and outside Kenya carrying out research and 
related activities.

•	 To disseminate and translate research findings for evidence-based policy formulation and 
implementation.

•	 To cooperate with the Ministry of Health, the National Commission for Science, Technology & 
Innovation (NACOSTI) and the Medical Sciences Advisory Research Committee on matters 
pertaining to research policies and priorities. To do all things as appear to be necessary, 
desirable or expedient to carry out its functions.

(c)	 Key Management

The entity’s day-to-day management is under the following key organs:

The key management personnel who held office during the financial year ended 30th June 2017 
and who had direct fiduciary responsibility were: 

DESIGNATION	
•	 Director/CEO	
•	 Deputy Director Administration & Finance	
•	 Deputy Director Research & Development 
•	 Corporate Secretary	
•	 Assistant Director Finance	
•	 Assistant Director Administration	
•	 Assistant Director Commercial Enterprise	
•	 Assistant Director Partnerships and Collaborations 
•	 Assistant Director RD & Knowledge Management	
•	 Head of Procurement	
•	 Head of Human Resource
•	 Head corporate Affairs	
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(d)	Fiduciary Management

The key management personnel who held office during the financial year ended 30th 

June 2017 and who had direct fiduciary responsibility were: 

S /
NO.

DESIGNATION NAME

1 Ag. Director, Kenya Medical Research Institute Dr. Yeri Kombe

2 Ag. Deputy director ( Research & development Dr. Evans Amukoye

3 Deputy Director Administration & Finance Mr. Kamau Mugenda

4 Assistant Director Scientific Programmes & Partnerships Dr. Lubano Kizito

5 Ag. Assistant Director Commercial Enterprises Dr.Charles Mwandawiro

6 Ag. Assistant Director (RD & Knowledge Management) Dr. Kimani Gachuhi

7 Assistant Director Finance Mr. Anthony Wachira

8 Ag. Assistant Director Human Resource Mr. Mungai Gichuhi

9 Corporation Secretary Mrs.EuniceKitche Oduor

10 Director, Centre for Biotechnology Research & Development Dr. Kimani Gachuhi

11 Director, Centre for Microbiology Research Prof. Samuel Kariuki

12 Director, Centre for Traditional Medicine and Drug Research Dr. Peter Mwitari

13 Director Centre for Global Health Research  - Kisumu Dr. Stephen Munga

14 Director, Centre for Infectious & Parasitic Diseases Control 
Research Prof. Matilu Mwau

15 Director, Centre for Geographical Medicine Research - Coast Dr. Benjamin Tsofa

16 Director Eastern & Southern Africa Centre for International 
Parasite Control Prof. Sammy Njenga

17 Ag. Director Centre for Clinical Research Dr.Veronicah Manduku

18 Ag. Director Center for Viral Research Dr. Rosemary Sang

19 Ag. Director, Centre for Public Health Ms. Zipporah Bukania

20 Ag.  Director Centre for Respiratory Diseases Research Dr.  Videlis Nduba

(e)	 Fiduciary Oversight Arrangements

-	 Audit/  Finance and General Purpose committees
-	 Investment and Development Committee/ Scientific Research Committee
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(f)	 Entity Headquarters

P.O. Box 54840-00200
Mbagathi Road
Nairobi, KENYA

(g)	Entity Contacts

Telephone: (254) 0202722541
E-mail: director@kemri.org
Website: www.kemri.org

(h)	Entity Bankers

i.	 Kenya Commercial Bank
Kipande House Branch
Nairobi

ii.	 Cooperative Bank Limited
China Centre Ngong Road Branch
Nairobi

iii.	 Family Bank
Kilimani Branch
Nairobi

(i)	 Independent Auditors

Auditor General
Kenya National Audit Office
Anniversary Towers, University Way 
P.O. Box 30084
GOP 00100
Nairobi, Kenya

(j)	 Principal Legal Adviser

The Attorney General
State Law Office
Harambee Avenue
P.O. Box 40112
City Square 00200
Nairobi, Kenya
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Dr. Naphtali N. Agata

Chairperson

Dr. Yeri Kombe 

Ag. Director/CEO 

Dr. Joseph Mutai 

Member (aged 63)

Key qualifications: PHD

Work experience: Lecturer 
Egerton University

Amb. Dr. Wenma A. Odinga 

Member (aged 66)

Key qualifications: PHD in 
Organic Chemistry

Work experience: 
Ambassador/Consul General 
of the Kenya Consulate, Los 
Angeles, United States of 
America

Dr. Noor Mohamed Ali 

Member (aged 59)

Key qualifications: Master 
of Science in Dental Public 
Health

Work experience: Managing 
Director, Nairobi Dental 
Polyclinics

2 . 	 T H E  B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S
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Dr. Michael Mbito 

Member (aged 51)

Key qualifications: Bachelor 
of Veterinary Medicine

Work experience: Managing 
Partner, BM Logistics Ltd.

Mrs. Eunice Kitche-Oduor 

Corporation Secretary, 
Legal

Key qualifications: MBA 
Strategic Mgmt., Bachelor of 
Law (LL.B), CPS (K) Advocate 
Commissioner for Oaths & 
Notary Public, Leadership 
& Management for Africa, 
Tokyo, Japan

Dr. Naomi Mutea 

Member (aged 60)

Key qualifications: 
Post-doctoral Training in 
translational research/ 
Doctor of Nursing Practice 

Dr. Moses S. Alobo 

Member (aged 42)

Key qualifications: Masters 
in Public Health in Advanced 
Epidemiology and Statistics 

Work experience: Clinical 
lead for the Africa NCD ( Non 
Communicable Disease) 
Open lab, GlaxoSmithKline

Mr. Lazarus K. Tanui  

Member (aged 61)

Key qualifications: Master 
of Science Chemistry 
(Combustion & Energy)

Work experience: Lecturer, 
University of Eldoret
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3 . 	 M A N A G E M E N T  T E A M

1.	

DR. YERI KOMBE 
AG. DIRECTOR/CEO 

2.	

MR. KAMAU MUGENDA 

DEPUTY DIRECTOR ADMINISTRATION AND FINANCE

3.	

DR. EVANS AMUKOYE

AG. DEPUTY DIRECTOR, RESEARCH AND TRAINING

4.	

MUNGAI GACHUHI

AG. ASSISTANT DIRECTOR, HUMAN RESOURCE

5.	

MR. ANTHONY WACHIRA

ASSISTANT DIRECTOR, FINANCE
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6.	

DR. CHARLES MWANDAWIRO

AG. ASSISTANT DIRECTOR COMMERCIAL 
ENTERPRISE 

7.	

MR. JOHN MUSAU 

ASSISTANT DIRECTOR ADMINISTRATION

8.	

DR. KIZITO LUBANO

AG. ASSISTANT DIRECTOR PARTNERSHIPS AND 
COLLABORATIONS 

9.	

MRS. EUNICE KITCHE-ODUOR 

CORPORATION SECRETARY, LEGAL

10.	

MR. KALU KITABA

HEAD PROCUREMENT
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4 . 	 C H A I R M A N ’ S  S T A T E M E N T

The Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI) Board of Management, humbly submits the 
Annual Report and Financial Statement for the year ended 30th June, 2017 in accordance with 
the provisions of Section 20 of the Science and Technology (Amendment) Act of 1979 (Cap 
250 of the Laws of Kenya).

This report gives an account of the achievements of the Institute within the financial year in 
review in KEMRI’s core area of research, capacity building, innovation and service delivery.

It was during this period that EMRI Board of Management took the bold step to initiate 
management changes included the appointment of Acting Director KEMRI, the Deputy Director 
in charge of Administration and Finance and the Head of Procurement as a way of revamping 
and strengthening the functions and operations within the top most echelons of decision making 
within the Institute. 

I wish to draw your attention to some of the major milestones that we achieved on the technical 
front during the year under review. The Institute held the 7th KEMRI Annual Scientific 
Conference (KASH) where cutting edge scientific abstracts were discussed and disseminated to 
stakeholders who included key policy makers. In addition, our facilities which received various 
professional international quality standards and accreditation, continued playing important 
role in disease management, control, surveillance and eradication efforts that were roundly 
applauded and recognized.  The monumental improvement and up-grade of our facilities 
under the on-going Defence Threat Reduction Agency (DTRA) programme through which 
the construction of a Sample Management and Receiving Facility (SMRF) building, a two-
storey office connector building and a two-story multi-purpose conference rooms is equally 
significant. This programme also involves the purchase, installation, and commissioning of two 
new biomedical waste incinerators, three new insectaries and the renovation of laboratories and 
office spaces in line with biosafety, biosecurity and the provision of Pathogen Asset Control 
System (PACS) among other. 

However, despite these achievements, we still have challenges which as the Board of Management 
are striving to address more specifically in strengthening administrative systems in the following 
critical areas: Human Resource Management, Finance and Procurement Departments.   

As a Board, we remain grateful to the Government of Kenya for its continued profound 
assistance and support to the Institute. The Board is indebted to various partner institutions and 
governments that continue to support the Institute in various ways.

The Board is also grateful to the Acting Director and CEO, KEMRI and all staff for their 
invaluable effort and commitment in serving KEMRI In Search of Better Health.
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5 . 	 R E P O R T  O F  T H E  C H I E F 
E X E C U T I V E  O F F I C E R

Although this Annual Report chronicles research activities and Financial Statement for the year 
ended 30th June, 2017, it is instructive to note that some of the comments and events are drawn 
up from the beginning of the year 2016.

Having identified and aggressively dealt with some of the challenges  experienced in the 
previous year, the Institute has continue to register reasonable progress towards fulfilling 
her national mandate to undertake human health research and to provide solutions to health 
challenges affecting not just Kenyans, but also humanity in general. As we look back into the 
period under review, I would like to highlight some of the major achievements and challenges 
the Institute experienced. 

On Institute leadership, major changes were witnessed in the KEMRI Board of Management 
and within the top management team with Dr. Naphtali Nyabero Agata joining the KEMRI 
Board of Management as its Chairman and I as an Acting Director and Chief Executive Officer 
of KEMRI. I thank the Cabinet Secretary of Health for the having confidence in me and for 
according me the opportunity to serve as CEO during the April, 2017 appointment. The Board 
also appointed Mr. Kamau Mugenda, the new Deputy Director in charge of Administration 
and Finance and Mr. Kalu Kitaba as the new Head of Procurement Department to respectively 
revamp the Institute’s administrative and procurement arms of the Institute.

On the technical front, the Institute successfully, hosted the 7th KEMRI Annual Scientific and 
Health (KASH) Conference, held in February, 2017, with over 300 delegates, seven plenaries 
sessions, and seven symposia and with over 90 cutting edge scientific abstracts being presented. 
KASH conference continues to be an important forum for dissemination of research findings, 
and therefore, the Institute will continue to support it and encourage participation from within 
and without our research staff and academia. The theme of the 2017 KASH gathering was 
“Investing in Health through Strengthening County Health Systems towards Prevention and 
Control of Diseases’. 

In addition, the KEMRI Polio Laboratory received two prestigious international recognitions for 
its continued professional proficiency and adherence to quality tests and results. A Netherlands-
based Specialized Reference Laboratory for Polio (RIVM) under the Polio Global Eradication 
Initiative gave the KEMRI Polio laboratory score of 100 percent in the WHO Global Polio 
Laboratory Network (GPLN), Virus Isolation Proficiency Testing 2016-1 carried out towards 
the end of 2016. Similarly, KEMRI participated in the first-ever historical Tuberculosis (TB) 
survey in post-independence Kenya which covered nearly 60 percent of the country. We were 
also very blessed when three KEMRI researchers were among 22 early career scientists from 
the African continent who were recognised by the African Academy of Sciences (AAS). 

The KEMRI – Defence Threat Reduction Agency (DTRA)/ Cooperative Biological Engagement 
Program (CBEP) Collaborative Project was informed by an agreement signed during the visit 
to Kenya by the former United States of America (USA) President, Barack Obama, between his 
government and the Government of Kenya (GOK) concerning Cooperation in Threat Reduction 
Biological Engagement Programs. This collaborative engagement will see the construction of a 
Sample Management and Receiving Facility (SMRF) building, the construction of a two-storey 
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office connector building and the construction of two, two-story multi-purpose conference 
rooms. It also involves the purchase, installation, and commissioning of two new biomedical 
waste incinerators; installation of three new insectaries; renovations of selected laboratory 
and office spaces; training and capacity building of KEMRI personnel in line with biosafety, 
biosecurity and the provision of Pathogen Asset Control System (PACS) and capacity building 
to operate and utilize the system for sample management. 

The Institute hosted the first ever meeting of the Commissioners of the East African Health 
Research Commission (EAHRC) held from 21st to 22nd March 2016.

It was also during this period that the Institute took a bold step to align its research priorities and 
activities to respond to the health needs of counties by incorporating the devolution strategy 
as it relates to human health research in its Strategic Plan for 2013- 2017, and appointed seven 
cluster coordinators to work with counties in a bid to strengthen existing partnerships with the 
devolved units for the service of all Kenyans.  As a result, new research Centres and facilities 
were envisioned to take advantage of the newly found relationships with county governments 
beginning with Kirinyaga where it has been proposed those modern state-of-the art facilities, 
a research graduate school and a manufacturing plat be constructed with the 100 acres piece 
of land donated to the Institute. Similar projects are now at the advanced stage with other 
counties throughout the country. Through this new approach, the Institute devotes to continue 
the improvement of health and quality of life through innovative health research, and support 
counties in identifying and implementing research on their priority health problems. 

The top KEMRI management intimated that several research projects likely to have positive 
impact on human health are currently being implemented by KEMRI throughout the country. 
The Institute is therefore, keen to expand such collaborations with counties, and even forge 
new ones. 

The Institute also made a major breakthrough when they released a report on the status of Iron, 
Zinc, Vitamins A and D nutritional knowledge& Dietary practices among pregnant women in 
Nairobi confirming fears that more needs to be done to prevent and treat not just the deficiencies, 
but also the dietary needs of households.

Similarly, the Board continues to work towards providing a conducive work environment, as 
well as improve terms and conditions of service, and related matters for the general welfare of 
staff. For the first time in almost a decade, the KEMRI management sanctioned the promotion 
of a total of 209 lower cadre officers and 41 for senior management cadre. This has greatly 
boosted the morale of staff and productivity in the institute.

Indeed, one may argue that it is this new found morale that was at play for the Institute to register 
a sterling performance yet at an International exhibition at the Mombasa International ASK 
show. KEMRI was awarded four trophies the Best Health Sector Stand, the Best Manufacturers 
Stand, the Second Best Stand in Research and the third Best Overall Stand.

We as the Institute, commit to re-dedicating our efforts towards faithfully serving the Institute 
so that we may not only attain our performance targets, but also, that we may make a positive 
difference in the lives of millions of Kenyans, who are looking up to KEMRI to provide 
solutions to their health challenges.



15
Pa

ge
 N

o

The Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI) Board of Management, humbly submits the 
Annual Report and Financial Statement for the year ended 30th June, 2017 in accordance with 
the provisions of Section 20 of the Science and Technology (Amendment) Act of 1979 (Cap 
250 of the Laws of Kenya).

This report gives an account of the achievements of the Institute within the financial year in 
review in KEMRI’s core area of research, capacity building, innovation and service delivery.

As a Board, we remain grateful to the Government of Kenya for its continued profound 
assistance and support to the Institute. The Board is indebted to various partner institutions 
and governments that continue to support the Institute in various ways.

The Board is also grateful to the Acting Director and CEO, KEMRI and all staff for their 
invaluable effort and commitment in serving KEMRI In Search of Better Health.
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6 . 	 C O R P O R A T E  G O V E R N A N C E 
S T A T E M E N T
This KEMRI Management Charter (the “Charter”) which was approved by the Board on 
3rd September, 2016, defines the Board’s roles and responsibilities as well as functions and 
structures to support the Board members in carrying out their strategic oversight function. 

The Charter guides the Board in directing the Institute to maximize the long term value of 
services provided for all stakeholders.  The Charter covers the following areas:-

•	 Statement on good governance and guiding principles

•	 Role of the Board of Management

•	 The size of the Board

•	 Board Composition

•	 Appointment of Board Members

•	 Independence of KEMRI Board Members

•	 Terms Limits

•	 Mode of resignation from the KEMRI Board

•	 The role of the Director of KEMRI

•	 What the Board should provide the Director with

•	 The office of Corporation Secretary

•	 The principle duties of the Corporation Secretary

•	 Relationship between the KEMRI Board and Management 

•	 Committees of the Board:-

	» Audit Committee

	» Finance and General Purpose Committee

	» Infrastructure and Development Committee

	» Scientific Programs Committee

•	 Board Responsibilities

•	 Responsibilities of Individual Board Members

•	 Principles of Public Service

•	 Conduct of meetings, protocol and procedure at meetings

•	 Notice and Agenda for meetings

•	 Implementation of Resolutions

•	 Liability of KEMRI Board Members
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•	 Conflict of Interest

•	 Board Members access to Employees

•	 Board Induction and Continuous Skills Development

•	 Board Remuneration

•	 Board Performance

•	 The KEMRI Board and Management Succession

•	 Governance Audit 

KEMRI Board has adopted high standards and applies strict rules of conduct based on the best 
corporate practices. As part of this commitment, the KEMRI Board adheres to good corporate 
governance by embracing the following principles:

1. High standards of ethical and moral behaviour;

2. Action in the best interests of the Institute;

3. Favourable terms and conditions of service; 

4. Recognition of the legitimate interests of all stakeholders; and 

5. Good corporate citizenship.

The Board endeavours to disclose confidential information, avoid real and perceived conflicts 
of interest, and concentrates on the interests of the Institute over other interests. To achieve 
this, a Conflict of Interest register is maintained by the Corporation Secretary and disclosure of 
interest is a standing agenda item in every Board or Committee meeting.

During the reporting period a total of nineteen Board meetings were held with at least one 
meeting per quarter.  

The Board members were not trained due to budgetary constraints during its meeting of 6th 
December, 2016. Consequently, the Board approved a work plan that made provisions for 
capacity building and training in the subsequent financial year.  All members of the Board have 
been inducted on the Mwongozo guidelines including the Board Chairman who was appointed 
during the reporting period.

The board conducted an induction for the new Chairman from 22nd March, 2017 to 24th March, 
2017 this was preceded by a handing over meeting to the incoming and outgoing 

Chairman on 14th November, 2016.

The Board’s performance was evaluated by the State Corporations Advisory Committee on 2nd  

September, 2016.

Corporate Secretary
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7 . 	 C O R P O R A T E  S O C I A L 
R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y  S T A T E M E N T /
S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T I N G

A team of health workers drawn from the Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI), teamed 
up with other bodies such as the Kenya Diabetes Management and Information Centre (DMI); 
Safaricom; Karen Hospital; Mater Hospital among others to participate in and execute charity 
medical camps and runs during the period under review.

The events generally had the following objectives:-

1.	 To give back to the community by assisting the disadvantaged. As a research Institute that 
continues to benefit from the tax payers’ money, we are obligated to support community 
initiatives.

2.	 To create awareness about the Institute and build its public profile with a human face.

3.	 To support the on-going national advocacy initiatives through provision of a better health 
and sanitation campaigns.

4.	 To identify with the public and foster goodwill towards the Institute. Since KEMRI relies 
on the community for its research, it is therefore critical that those communities and the 
public in general have a positive picture of the Institute.

A brief summary of the events and pictorial evidence include the following: 

1.	 BUSIA County Medical Camp

KEMRI was invited by the Member of Parliament for Teso South, Hon. Mary Emaase Otuch 
to partner with other like-minded organizations and charities such as the National Social 
Security Fund (NSSF), Ahadi Kenya, the Beyond Zero Campaign and the Busia County 
Government in organizing a community medical camp in Teso South sub-county on 30th 
September 2016 and 1st October 2016.  

The medical camp targeted eight primary schools spread across the six wards of the 294 kms 
constituency with an estimated population of 137,924 people. The eight schools include; 
Achunet, Opokot, Kodedema, katelenyang, Alomodoi, Akoret, Amoni and Alupe. The 
Institute was represented by 12 officers lead by the Chairperson of the KEMRI Board of 
Management. A total of 20 media personalities attended the two-day exercise. The journalists 
were drawn from both the main stream media houses such as the Nation Media Group, the 
Standard Media Group, the Star and the People Daily Newspaper, Citizen TV, KBC Radio/
TV, KNA etc to community-based radio and TV stations.  

This medical camp had enormous immediate impact to its beneficiaries: Over 3,000 people 
in 400 households benefited from the medical camp. Health talks were provided on general 
body and dental hygiene to improve their health. Removal of jiggers was undertaken. 
Volunteers were identified and trained as anti-jiggers campaigners to carry-on the campaign.
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2.	 HON. BETH MUGO CANCER FOUNDATION LAUNCH 

KEMRI team participated by way of exhibiting during the launch of the Beth Mugo Cancer 
Foundation on 24th October 2016 at KICC COMESA Grounds, Nairobi which was graced 
by the First Lady of the Republic of Kenya. The launch was attended by among others 
Cabinet Secretary Ministry of Health, Youth and Gender Affairs, Cecily Kariuki among 
other dignitaries.  Over 1500 persons, both men and women were screened for many other 
forms of cancers.

3.	 WORLD AIDS DAY 2016 COMMEMORATION

The Corporate Affairs Department together with the KEMRI AIDS Control Unit (KACU) 
commemorated the Annual World AIDS Day Celebrations on 1st December, 2016 through 
having a sensitization exercise for staff, family members and the general community at the 
KEMRI, Centre for Public Health Research (CPHR) KNH Grounds.

The objective of the sensitization exercise was to enhance total health and HIV/AIDS 
Awareness promotions as well as achieve ultimate work place all round health promotion 
through giving health talks on the following health issues: promotion of CSR; enhance staff, 
family and community interaction, enhance awareness on prevention, treatment and care, 
encourage voluntary counselling and testing, health and HIV/AIDS awareness promotion, 
enhance distribution of condoms and dissemination of IEC materials, create awareness on 
alcohol and drug abuse, promote gender and disability mainstreaming and promote youth 
(student internship) as special groups. 

4.	 KEMRI PARTICIPATION IN THE ANNUAL SAFARICOM DIABETES WALK

Over 40 members of staff from Kenya Medical Research Institute joined thousands of 
Kenyans in participating in the 2017 edition of the annual Safaricom Diabetes Walk, at the 
Carnivore Grounds on Saturday 9th July, 2017. The team of KEMRI staff was led by the 
Institute’s Corporate Affairs Office. The Walk was in its 12th year and over 10,000 people 
took part. The Safaricom Diabetes Walk has grown from a small fundraising event in 2000, 
when it attracted about 2,000 participants, to over 10,000 participants in 2017.

5.	 KEMRI PARTICIPATES IN THE KAREN HOSPITAL-HEART RUN 

Over 20 members of staff from Kenya Medical Research Institute joined thousands of 
Kenyans in participating in the 2017 edition of the Heart Run of the Karen Hospital, Nairobi 
at Uhuru Gardens on 13th May, 2017.  At the event, people interacted with professionals 
who gave tips on staying healthy and keeping the preventable conditions at bay. KEMRI also 
gave financial support of Kshs. 20,000/- during the Heart Run to emphasize the importance 
the Institute has attached to the worthy cause of treatment of children suffering from heart 
diseases. Heart to Heart Foundation director Mrs. Juliet Nyaga commented that the run had 
served as an important platform to raise awareness about heart ailments among children. 
``Providing early interventions to children with heart conditions is a guarantee of fulfilling 
life for them. 
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8 . 	 R E P O R T  O F  T H E  D I R E C T O R S
	

The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements for the year 
ended June 30, 2017 which show the state of the entity’s affairs.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Institute is to conduct Human Health Research

Results

The results of the entity for the year ended June 30, 2017 are set out on page ….

Directors

The members of the Board of Directors who served during the year are shown on page 
viii. 

Auditors

The Auditor General is responsible for the statutory audit of the entity in accordance with 
Article 229 of the Constitution of Kenya and the Public Audit Act 2015.

By Order of the Board

CS Eunice Kitche

Corporate Secretary

Nairobi

Date:……….
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9 . 	 S T A T E M E N T  O F  D I R E C T O R S ’ 
R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S
Section 81 of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012 and (section 14 of the State 
Corporations Act, - in accordance with the provisions of Section 20 of the Science and 
Technology (Amendment) Act of 1979 (Cap 250 of the Laws of Kenya). require the Directors 
to prepare financial statements in respect of that KEMRI, which give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of  KEMRI at the end of the financial year/period and the operating results 
of  KEMRI for that year/period. The Directors are also required to ensure that KEMRI keeps 
proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of 
KEMRI. The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of KEMRI.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of KEMRI’s financial 
statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of KEMRI for and as at the end 
of the financial year (period) ended on June 30, 2017. This responsibility includes: (i) maintaining 
adequate financial management arrangements and ensuring that these continue to be effective 
throughout the reporting period; (ii) maintaining proper accounting records, which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of KEMRI; (iii) designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements, and ensuring that they are free from material misstatements, whether due to error or 
fraud; (iv) safeguarding the assets of the entity; (v) selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and (vi) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Directors accept responsibility for the entity’s financial statements, which have been prepared 
using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates, in conformity with International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), and in 
the manner required by the PFM Act, 2012 and (the State Corporations Act) – in accordance with 
the provisions of Section 20 of the Science and Technology (Amendment) Act of 1979 (Cap 250 
of the Laws of Kenya). . The Directors are of the opinion that the entity’s financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the state of KEMRI transactions during the financial year ended June 
30, 2017, and of the KEMRI financial position as at that date. The Directors further confirm the 
completeness of the accounting records maintained for the KEMRI, which have been relied upon 
in the preparation of the entity’s financial statements as well as the adequacy of the systems of 
internal financial control.

Nothing has come to the attention of the Directors to indicate that the KEMRI will not remain a 
going concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of this statement.

Approval of the financial statements

The KEMRI financial statements were approved by the Board on _________________ 2017 and 
signed on its behalf by:

__________________					   

Chairman of Board						    
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A Netherlands-based Specialized Reference 
Laboratory for Polio (RIVM) under the Polio 
Global Eradication Initiative gave the KEMRI Polio 
laboratory a perfect score of 100 percent in the 
WHO Global Polio Laboratory Network (GPLN), 
Virus Isolation Proficiency Testing 2016-1 carried 
out towards the end of 2016. 

A similar verdict was separately received from the 
US Centres for Disease Control and Prevention 
(CDC) in Atlanta, Georgia, USA for “excellent 
performance on the 2016 Poliovirus Intra-Typhic 
Differentiation/Vaccine Derived Polio Virus (ITD/
VDPV) Proficiency Testing Panel”. This panel tested 
the GPLN laboratory technical ability, equipment 
limitations, and knowledge of the algorithm 
post-PV2 withdrawal which  the  KEMRI Polio 
laboratory scored 100 percent.

The Polio Laboratory based at the Centre for 
Virus Research (CVR) of KEMRI is one of the 
147 laboratories worldwide that form the Global 
Polio Laboratory Network (GPLN). The network 
was established in 1990 by the WHO and national 
governments, with a primary responsibility to 
distinguish polio as a cause of Acute Flaccid 
Paralysis (AFP) from diseases other than poliovirus.

All laboratories in the GPLN network are continually 
monitored for their adherence to quality indicators 
and have annual onsite accreditation assessments 
as well as proficiency testing. The laboratories 
follow standardized WHO procedures for detecting 
polioviruses from stool samples collected from 

AFP cases.The KEMRI Polio Laboratory not only 
tests specimens collected in Kenya, it also, tests 
specimens received from other countries including 
Somalia, Djibouti, South Sudan, Eritrea, Yemen, 
Ethiopia and the Comoros.  

On 22nd December 2016, the KEMRI Polio 
laboratory participated in the WHO GPLN Virus 
Isolation proficiency testing (VI-PT-2016-1) 
programin which it has obtained a perfect score 
of 100 percent. Erwin Duizer, the Head of the 
Specialized Reference Laboratory for Polio, 
RIVM, the Netherlands, for the GPLN made the 
communication to KEMRI.Dr. Everardo Vega, the 
Lead Polio Expert from the CDC in Atlanta also, 
communicated the good news to KEMRI in a letter 
dated 14th, February 2017.

T H E  K E M R I  P O L I O  L A B O R A T O R Y 
R A T E D  E X C E L L E N T  I N  P E R F O R M A N C E

The KEMRI Polio Laboratory received two prestigious international recognitions 
for its continued professional proficiency and adherence to quality tests and 
results. 
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S T U D Y 
R E C O M M E N D S 
U P - S C A L E  O F 
M I C R O N U T R I E N T S 
T O  P R E G N A N T 
W O M E N . 

A new study released Wednesday, 7th September 
2016 by the Kenya Medical Research Institute 
(KEMRI) affirms that micronutrient deficiencies 
remains a major public health concern among 
women from diverse settings in Nairobi-Kenya.

The study by researchers from the Institute’s Centre 
for Public Health Research on the status of Iron, 
Zinc, Vitamins A and D nutritional knowledge 
& Dietary practices among pregnant women in 
Nairobi, Kenya confirms fears that more needs to be 
done to prevent and treat not just the deficiencies, 
but also the dietary needs of households.

Study by researchers, Dr. Elizabeth Echoka, Dr. 
Lydia Kaduka and Richard Mutisya among others, 
sought to establish the magnitude of micronutrient 
deficiencies in relation to food consumption 
patterns among pregnant women from Nairobi 
County. 

The findings were presented to and discussed by 
fellow scientists, policy makers, stakeholders and 
nutritional players among them, Kenya’s Ministry 
of Health officials at the Crown Plaza Hotel in 
Nairobi.

The study was done by KEMRI in collaboration 
with DANONE NUTRICA and Aga Khan 
University Hospital Nairobi among other.

Researchers, Dr. Lydia Kaduka  
and Dr. Elizabeth Echoka take 
and answer questions during 

their presentation

Researcher, A group photograph 
of the stakeholders who 

attended the dissemination 
workshop in Nairobi  
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K E M R I  P A R T I C I P A T E S  I N 
I N T E R N A T I O N A L  V O L U N T E E R 
D A Y

KEMRI joined the rest of the world to 
mark the International Volunteer Day 
commemorated this Monday, 5th, December, 
2016 by participating in a clean-up exercise 
along Mbagathi Way. 

Armed with spades, rakes, wheelbarrows 
and gumboots, the staff drawn from different 
departments braved the chilly Nairobi 
weather for the noble exercise which was 
formally flagged off by the then, Acting 
Deputy Director in charge of Finance and 
Administration, Ms. Anne Muthoni.

The International Volunteer Day is observed 
on every December 5th annually.  People don’t 
just celebrate volunteerism in all its facets 
- but also pay special tribute to volunteers 
working to implement the new global goals. 
The Kenya government has declared the day 
as one which is to be commemorated by all 
Kenyans annually

KEMRI staff volunteer to clean-
up Mbagathi way to mark the 
International Volunteer Day 2016
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KEMRI LEADS IN TB PREVALENCE SURVEY
The first-ever historical Tuberculosis (TB) 
survey in post-independence Kenya has so far 
covered nearly 60 percent of the country, the lead 
researchers have announced.

The team which has been on the ground since last 
September when the exercise commenced, report 
having covered in all counties in the Coastal, 
Eastern, Central, the Rift Valley and parts of South 
Nyanza. The survey covered 60 of the targeted 100 
zones. 

Team of researchers from the Kenya Medical 
Research Institute and other stakeholders, 
embarked  on the remaining 40 zones in Western, 
Northern Kenya and Nairobi regions. 

The team comprised of researchers from the 
Ministry of Health and key stakeholders including 
the Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI) 
undertaking this momentous 12 months nation-
wide survey.

The last Kenya TB Prevalence Survey was carried 
out between 1958 - 1959 when over 80 percentage 
of the current population of Kenya were not born. 

The Ministry of Health has relied on existing TB 
surveillance data to estimate the burden of TB. 

Tuberculosis (TB) is an infectious airborne 
disease spread when people cough, sneeze or sing. 
Although TB is preventable, treatable and curable, 
it remains Kenya’s fourth largest cause of death. 

It affects all age groups, with its greatest toll among 
the most economically productive age group of 15 
to 44 years. 

Kenya was the first African country in 2008 to 
attain the WHO targets of detecting 70 percent of 
TB cases and treating 85 percent of these cases 
successfully. 

According to the survey done in 2014, 90,000 TB 
cases were reported, however it is estimated that 
there are about 20,000 ‘missing’ TB cases that go 
undetected and untreated. These missing cases are 
likely to contribute to the ongoing transmission of 
TB in communities and thus hinder the nations’ 
efforts to attain zero TB infections and zero death. 

The survey is headed by Dr. Joseph Siteinei,   from 
the Ministry of Health who is also the Principal 
Investigator (PI), while KEMRI’s researcher, Dr. 
Jane Rahedi Ong’ang’o is the Co-PI.

The TB survey aims to provide an accurate estimate 
of Kenya’s TB burden, determine the existing 
challenges in accessing TB testing and treatment.  
The Survey also aims to characterize persons 
identified with TB that were not yet detected by 
the National TB control program. 

The process of the survey involves a visit to 
individual households and inviting those over 15 
years of age to a nearby mobile field site located at 
a school or community hall. 

At the field site, participants are interviewed on 
features of TB, requested for a chest x-ray and 
asked to provide a sputum sample. 

KEMRI has played a big role in the survey, from 
the protocal and concept development to the 
implimentation of the survey.

“We as KEMRI cannot be more proud to be 
involved in this process. It has been 55 plus years 
since this was done. For Kenyans and Kenya this is 
a big achievement”, says Dr. Ong’ang’o

“The survey findings will inform strategic TB 
interventions that address challenges faced in 
controlling TB and will go a long way in helping 
the country achieve globally recommended TB 
control targets by 2030,” she adds. 
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KEMRI STANDS 
OUT AT FIRST-
EVER AFRICAN 
TICAD IN NAIROBI
The over 20 year old collaboration between 
KEMRI and JICA was a key area of discussion 
among thousands of delegates attending the 
first-ever TICAD conference to be held in 
Africa.

Japan has made a significant contribution in 
making KEMRI a leading centre of excellence 
in health research in Africa. 

The support included a grant aid that saw the 
construction of the KEMRI Headquarters 
complex, which includes microbiology 
laboratories in Nairobi and Malindi, and the 
installation of a Biosafety Level 3 (P3) facility 
to mention but a few. These facilities are unique 
health research investments that have created 
a very attractive environment for undertaking 
quality research and training.  

Today’s world requires greater inter-
dependence, increased integration and mutual 
co-operation between nations and institutions. 
It is for this reason that the Institute boasts of 
more than 70 local, regional and international 
collaborations. JICA has been and continues 
being one of a dependable collaborator for the 
Institute.

“As an institution, we highly treasure the 
assistance, the Japanese government has so 
kindly rendered to KEMRI and the country, 
over the years. KEMRI enjoys very warm and 
friendly ties, with deep historical roots with 
the people and government of Japan,” says Dr. 
Gerald Mkoji, the Acting Director, KEMRI. 

In addition, Japan funded construction of a state 
of the art Production Unit where some of the 
innovations emanating from research activities 
are converted into products for health care and 
for supporting research. The facility is also used 
for technology transfer, product improvement, 
and manufacture. 

The Third Country Training Programme 
on Blood Safety is another initiative that 
was supported by Japan, through JICA, in 
collaboration with KEMRI, and targeted 24 
countries in the Eastern, Central and Southern 
African countries. To date, more than 200 
health personnel from the region have benefited 
from this training. 

The KEMRI Training Centre, also constructed 
through support from Japan, is home to 
the Eastern and Southern Africa Centre of 
International Parasite Control (ESACIPAC), 
which is a Global Initiative of the G8 Summit 
under the Hashimoto Initiative for the control 
of parasitic infections in the world. 
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STATUS OF IRON, ZINC, VITAMINS A & D, NUTRITIONAL KNOWLEDGE & DIETARY 
PRACTICES AMONG PREGNANT WOMEN IN NAIROBI, KENYA

Aga Khan University
Hospital NairobiIn Search of Better Health

THE STUDY
Studies addressing maternal nutritional needs in Kenya are limited. We sought to establish the magnitude of 
micronutrient de�ciencies in relation to food consumption patterns among pregnant women. We conducted a facility 
based cross-sectional study among women in the second trimester, attending antenatal care in three hospitals 
representative of the socio economic strata in Nairobi, Kenya. Biochemical assessments included iron, zinc, retinol 
binding protein (RBP), full haemogram, C-reactive protein, alpha-1-acid glycoprotein and Vitamin D. Food 
consumption patterns were assessed using a food frequency questionnaire with 100 food items with a seven day 
recall period.  

IMPLICATIONS FOR POLICY AND ACTION
Micronutrient de�ciencies remain a public health concern among women from diverse settings in Nairobi, Kenya. If 
unattended, this has the potential to turn into serious health challenges. There is need to prevent and treat micronutrient 
de�ciencies and encourage households to meet the dietary needs of pregnant women. There is need to address the 
gaps in attainment of adequate micronutrients, and reinforces the need for further investigation into cause of these 
de�ciencies. There is need to focus on other supporting interventions to improve maternal nutrition. Our data also 
shows that nutrition knowledge, exposes a gap between knowledge and practice. This is an area where signi�cant 
positive health outcomes could be achieved, with nutrition education being stepped up. There is need to undertake a 
policy review to encourage and facilitate nutrition education during ANC. 

FACTS ON NUTRITION DURING PREGNANCY

During pregnancy all women need more food, a varied 
diet, and micronutrient supplements. 
Energy needs increase in the second and third 
trimester 
Lactation places high demands on maternal stores of 
energy, protein, and other nutrients. These come from 
a mother’s diet or her body stores, and need to be 
established, conserved, and replenished. 
De�ciencies of certain nutrients are associated with 
increased risk of maternal complications and death; 
increased risk of infection; anaemia; lower productivity 
Costs of maternal malnutrition for fetal and infant 
health include increased risk of death; Intrauterine 
growth retardation, low birth weight, prematurity; 
Birth defects; Brain damage; Increased risk of infection
Supporting interventions to improve maternal 
nutrition include reduction of malaria infection in 
pregnant women; Reduction of hookworm infection; 
Birth spacing of three years or longer; Decreased 
workload or rest during pregnancy.

KEY FINDINGS
19% had anaemia characterised by low 
haemoglobin levels (<11g/dL) 
36.1% had Iron de�ciency (serum ferritin 
<15µg/L) 
12% had iron de�ciency anaemia  (Hb<11.0 & 
SF<15) 
Only one percent had Vitamin A de�ciency (RBP 
<0.70µmol/L), but 11.7% had marginal de�ciency 
(RBP 0.7 - <1.05µmol/L). 
53% had Vitamin D de�ciency (<30ng/ml), with 
34% having marginal de�ciency. 
21% of the women had a combination of 
two-three de�ciencies, the most prevalent 
combination being that of iron and zinc
The mean dietary diversity score was 9.53 (range 
of 6-11), indicative of adequate diversity 
65% had knowledge of the three food groups, 
more than half could not correctly identify three 
energy food sources
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STATUS OF IRON, ZINC, VITAMINS A & D, NUTRITIONAL KNOWLEDGE
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K E M R I 
P A R T I C I P A T E S  I N 
M E D I C A L  C A M P 
I N  T E S O  S O U T H 
C O N S T I T U E N C Y

Over 3,000 people were attended to during 
a community medical camp held in Teso 
South Constituency, Busia County.  The 
camp held in Teso South Sub-county on 
Friday 30th, September 2016 and Saturday, 
1st, October 2016 was well received by 
residents registered a huge success.

The Institute was invited by the Member 
of Parliament for Teso South, Hon. Mary 
Emaase Otuch to partner with other like-
minded organizations and charities such as 
the National Social Security Fund (NSSF), 
Ahadi Kenya, the Beyond Zero Campaign 
and the Busia County government for the 
charitable course.

The medical camp targeted eight primary 
schools spread across the six wards of the 
294 kms constituency with an estimated 

population of 137,924 people. The 
eight schools include; Achunet, Opokot, 
Kodedema, Katelenyang, Alomodoi, Akoret, 
Amoni and Alupe and targeted an estimated 
400 households.  

The Institute was represented by 12 officers 
lead by the Chairperson of the KEMRI 
Board of Management, Dr. Lillian Apadet 
through the KEMRI Busia-based, Center 
for Infectious Parasitic Diseases Control 
Research (CIPDCR) headed by the then 
Acting Director, Ms. Olipher Makwaga.   

The Despite the short notice, CIPDCR 
lead by the then Ms. Makwaga took up 
the invitation with much gusto, sending 
six officers to participate in the exercise 
and providing the much needed transport 
the much needed logistics during the two 
days medical camp. They joined the other 
five officers from KEMRI Headquarters in 
Nairobi. 

CIPDCR promised to develop a proposal 
that to study the jigger menace in the area, 
an idea that was supported by the chair who 
promised to support such a proposal should 
it be tabled by the management before the 

board.

Outgoing 
Chairlady, 
KEMRI Board of 
Management 
Dr Lilian Apadet 
(right) treats a 
jigger infested 
leg of a pupil.
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1 0 . 	 R E P O R T  O F  T H E  I N D E P E N D E N T 
A U D I T O R S  O N  T H E  K E N Y A 
M E D I C A L  R E S E A R C H  I N S T I T U T E

Disclaimer of opinion

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of Kenya medical research institute set out on 
pages 1 to 28, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, and the statement 
of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets, statement of  cash flows and statement of 
comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year ended, and a summary od significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information in accordance with the provisions of Article 229 of the 
constitution of Kenya and section 35 of the public audit act, 2015.

I do not express an opinion on the accompanying financial statements. Because of the significance of 
the matters described in the basis for disclaimer of opinion section of my report, I have not been able 
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an Audit opinion on these financial 
statements.

In addition, as required by article 229(6) of the constitution, I have not been able to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence to confirm that public money has been applied lawfully and in an effective 
way.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

1.	 Excess Exchequer Development Releases
Included in the statement of the financial performance for the year ended 30 June 12017 is GOK 
funding balance of kshs. 1,834,962,265. This includes an amount of kshs.35, 500,000 received as 
development exchequer from the ministry of health. However, a review of the institute’s budget 
and the ministry of health approved development budget for the institute revealed that only amount 
budgeted for was kshs 5,000,000 for perimeter wall fence in Taita Taveta and Kirinyaga. The excess 
development exchequer of kshs. 30,500,000 has not been explained or reconciled

Consequently, the propriety of GOK funding of kshs 30,500,000 for the period ending 30 June 2017 
could not be confirmed.

2.	 Unsupported Sundry Income- Overheads
Included in the statement of financial performance for the year ended 20 June 2017 is sundry income 
of kshs 138,596, 364 and whose supporting documents were not availed for audit review.

Consequently, it has not been possible to confirm the accuracy and completeness of the sundry income 
amount of 138,596,264 included in the statement of financial performance for the year ended 20 June 
2017
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3.	 Unsupported Interest on Investment
Included in the statement of financial performance for the year ended 30 June 2017 is revenue from 
exchange transactions of kshs. 104,186,750. As sown in note 6 to the financial statements, this includes 
interests on investments of kshs. 6,313,232 made up of kshs 5,072,850.97 and kshs 1,240,381 from 
family bank and Kenya commercial bank respectively. However, contract documents and deposit 
certificates supporting the income were not availed for review.

Consequently, it has not been possible to confirm the accuracy and completeness of the interest on 
investment balance of kshs. 6,313,232 included under revenue from exchange transactions in the 
statement of financial performance for the year ended 20 June 2017.

4.	 Human Resources
a.	 Two Thirds Basic Rule

Included in employees cost of kshs. 1,513,076,142 in the statement of financial performance for the 
year ended 30 June 2017 is personal emoluments of kshs. 824,788,456. A review of the institutes 
payroll revealed that fifty(50) employees suffered deductions beyond a third(1/3) of their basic 
salary contrary to public service commission human resource policies and procedures manual (sec 
Ci sub sec 3) which require employees to retain at least a third of their salary.

The institute is therefore in breach of the law.

b.	 Accumulated leave
Included in employee costs of kshs. 1.512, 531,437 in the statement of financial performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2017 is passage and leave allowance of kshs.6,948,500. A review 
of he institute’s leave schedule revealed that employees were accumulating leave days beyond 
the allowed maximum of 45 days per year thus contravening public service commission human 
resource policies and procedures manual and  KEMRI HR  policy.

c.	 Unreconciled Staff Cost
Included in the statement of financial performance for the year ended 30 June 2017 is employee 
cost of kshs. 1512, 531,437. A review of the payroll summaries for the year under review showed 
amount of kshs. I, 506,038,686 which compared against the financial statements figure of kshs. 
1,512,531,437 results to reconciled variance.

Consequently, it has not been possible to confirm the accuracy, validity and propriety of the 
employee  cost of kshs.1,512,531,437 included in the statement of financial performance for the 
year ended 30 June 2017.

5.	 Collaborator’s funds
a.	 Overpaid Personal Emoluments

Included in collaborators funds of kshs. 4,461,927,815 in the statement of financial performance for 
the year ended 30 June 2017 is an amount of kshs. 3,253,118,910 in respect of staff costs comprising 
of kshs. 3,243,128,312.00 And ksh.9, 990,598 for external and internal funding respectively. 
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However, a review of the schedule supporting external funding of kshs. 3,243,128,312.00 revealed 
that the stated amount is net of kshs. 9,840,934 being overpayments on the same. The institute has 
not explained this state affair.

b.	 Credit on Bank Charges
Included in collaborators funds of kshs. 4,461,927,815 is also an amount of kshs 2,156,804 in 
respect of bank charges comprising of kshs. 2,014,888 and kshs. 141,916 for external and internal 
funding respectively. However, a review of the schedule supporting external funding of kshs. 
2,014,88revealed that the stated amount is net of kshs.368, 553 being credits on the same. The 
institute has not explained this state affair.

Consequently, it has not been possible to confirm the accuracy, validity and propriety of the 
employee cost of kshs.4, 461,927,815 included in the statement of financial performance for the 
year ended 30 June 2017.

c.	 Overpaid Laboratory Supplies
Included in collaborators funds of kshs. 4,461,927,815 is an amount of kshs. 93,172,932 in respect 
of laboratory supplies comprising of kshs. 49,552,097 and kshs. 45,620,835 for external and 
internal funding respectively. However, a review of the schedule supporting external funding of 
kshs. 3,243,128,312.00 revealed that the stated amount is net of kshs. 236,342 being overpayments 
on the same. The institute has not supported overpayments of kshs.236, 342 and the reason for the 
net off of the actual amount on laboratory supplies.

d.	 Overpaid Travelling and Accommodations
Included in collaborators funds of kshs. 4,461,927,815 is an amount of kshs. 211,468,521 in 
respect of travelling and accommodation comprising of kshs.162, 006,661 and kshs. 49,461,860 
for external and internal funding respectively. However, a review of the schedule supporting 
external funding of kshs. 3,243,128,312.00 revealed that the stated amount is net of kshs. 33,853 
being overpayments on the same that has not been supported or explained.

e.	 Overpaid other operating expenses
Included in collaborators funds of kshs. 4,461,927,815 is an amount of kshs. 821,797,042 in respect 
of other operating expenses comprising of kshs. 819,736,078 and kshs. 2,060,962 for external and 
internal funding respectively. However, a review of the schedule supporting external funding of 
kshs. 819,736,078 revealed that the stated amount is net of kshs. 91,907,241 being overpayments 
on the same that has not been supported.

Consequently, it has not been possible to confirm the accuracy, validity and propriety of the 
employee cost of kshs.4, 461,927,815 included in the statement of financial performance for the 
year ended 30 June 2017.
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6.	 Administrative Costs
a.	 legal expenses

Included in the administrative costs of kshs.326, 732,231 in the statement of financial performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2017 is kshs. 11,083,790.75 paid to private legal firms. However, the 
institute had not sought approval and issuance of no- objection from the Attorney General’s office 
to continue using services of the same private law firms.

 Consequently the institute did not comply with attorney generals circular reference AG/
CON/6/D/144/VOL. II of  6th  April 2017 on legal expenses and the propriety of the administrative 
costs of kshs.326,732,231 included in the statement of financial performance for the year ended 30 
June 2017 could, therefore, not be determined.

7.	 Cash and Cash Equivalents
a.	 Operating Unlawful and Undisclosed Bank Accounts

Included in the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017 is cash and cash equivalent of 
kshs. 1,029,775,253. A review of bank accounts operated by the institute revealed that the institute 
operated a total of twenty five (25) bank accounts held in Kenya Commercial Bank of Kenya, Co-
operative Bank of Kenya and Family Bank of Kenya without treasury approval.

The institute failed to comply with the public finance management act, 2012 section 28(1) which 
requires the national treasury to authorize the opening, operational and closing of bank accounts 
and sub-counts for all national government entities.

Further, a review of bank accounts operated by the institute and the supporting documents revealed 
that the institute excluded from the cash and cash equivalents of kshs.1, 029,778,253 an amount of 
kshs.22, 331,178 for KEMRI-Oxford University as analyzed below

Account name Bank Certificate No Account No Amount as per cert
KEMRI-Oxford 
University

KCB CERT1718814268 1179013859 Kshs22,331,178.90

It was noted that RCTP Account No. 1104166879 changed signatories in the course of the year. 
The institute as neither explained why the amounts could not form part of cash equivalent balance 
of kshs. 1,029,775,253 included in the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017.

b.	 Bank Reconciliation
i.	 7.21 exchequers Account 1104161362

The bank reconciliation statement for the exchequer cash book (Account No. 1104161362) 
as at 30 June 2017 reflects payments in cash book not recorded in the bank statement totaling 
kshs.27, 322,287.51 which included an amount of kshs. 45,459.43 in respect of stale cheques. 
No reason has been given for failure to replace the cheques or having the same credited back 
in the cash book. The statement also reflects receipts in the banks statement not recorded in 
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the cash book totaling kshs.657,747.20 out of which an amount of kshs.108,145.27 has been 
outstanding for more than six months. No reason has been given for delay in entering the 
amount in the cash book. The statement further reflects payments in bank statement not cash 
book totaling to kshs.3, 662,825.24 out of which kshs. 2,532,148.74 has been outstanding for 
more than six months. No reason has been provided for the delay in recording these payments 
in the cash book. The statement also reflects receipts of kshs.194, 689.40 in the cash book but 
not recorded in the bank statement. No explanation has been given for the delay in according 
the payments in the cashbook. The management has not provided an explanation on this state 
of affairs.

ii.	 RGA Account NO.1104174529
The bank reconciliation statement for the RGA cash book (Account No.1104174529) as at 30 
June 2017 reflects payments in cashbook not recorded in the bank statement totaling kshs.764, 
880 which includes an amount of kshs. 719,986 in respect of stale cheques. No reason has 
been given for failure to replace the cheques or having the same credited back in the cash 
book. The statement also reflects receipts in the bank statement not recorded in the cash book 
totaling kshs. 7,892,608.10 of which an amount of kshs.2,335,462 has been outstanding for 
more than six months. No reason has been given for the delay in entering the amount in the 
cash book. The statement further reflects payments in bank statement not in cash book totaling 
to kss.1,082,963.60 out of which of which kshs.254,388.30 has been outstanding for more 
than six months. No reason has been given for the delay in recording these payments in the 
cash book. Also the statement reflects receipts of kshs.1, 917,994.70 in the cash book but not 
recorded in the bank statement. As in the previous instance, no explanation has been given for 
the inordinate delay.

iii.	KEMRI EAST AFRICA Account No.1128126671100
The bank reconciliation statement for the KEMRI East Africa cashbook (Account 
No.1128126671100) as at 30 June 2017 reflects payments in bank statement not in cash book 
totaling to kshs.68,255 out of which kshs.63,910 has been outstanding for more than six months 
. no reason has been provided for the delay in recording these payments in the cash book.

iv.	KEMRI JICA production department Account 1104166194
The bank reconciliation statement for KEMRI JICA production department cashbook (Account 
1104166194) as at 30 June reflects payments in cashbook not recorded in the bank statement 
totaling kshs.223, 377.20 which included an amount of kshs.92, 627.20 in respect of stale 
cheques. No reason has been given for failure to replace the cheques or having the same credited 
back in the cashbook.

Consequently, it has been possible to confirm the accuracy, validity and propriety of cash and 
cash equivalent balance of kshs.1, 029,775,253 included in the statement of financial position 
as at 30 June 2017



35
Pa

ge
 N

o

v.	 Unexplained Foreign Currency Translation Rate
Included in the cash and cash equivalents amount of kshs.1, 029,775,253 is an amount of kshs 
.17, 467,856(149,591.98) and kshs.4,693,750($46,044.24) and whose translation rate and 
reconciliation rate and reconciliations were not availed for audit review.

Consequently, it has not been possible to confirm the accuracy, validity and propriety of the 
cash and cash equivalent balance of kshs.1, 029,775,253 included in the statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2017

8.	 Unsupported Short term Deposit
Included in the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017 is a short term deposit amounting 
to kshs. 530,000,000 which comprises of kshs. 500, 000, 000,invested in CBK Treasury bills and 
kshs. 30,000,000 invested in Kenya Commercial bank. Analysis of two years financial statements 
2015/2016 and 2016/2017 reflects a gap/deficit of kshs.66, 769,206 and kshs.28, 565,808 respectively. 
The management has not provided the basis of recognizing kshs.530, 000,000 as a surplus and thus 
available for investment. Further review of the end year support documents show that the bank 
confirmation certificates from CBK showed a nil balance for the treasury bills investments of kshs. 
500,000,000 while the certificate of balance availed for the fixed deposit account in KCB reflected 
kshs.35, 817,808.20. The institute has not reconciled the resulting differences.

Consequently, the accuracy, validity and existence of the short-term deposit balance of kshs. 
530,000,000 included in the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017 could not be 
determined.

9.	 Trade and other Receivables
a.	 Deposit with the institute lawyers.

As reported in 2015/2016, trade and other receivables balance of ksh.510, 735,379 included in 
the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017 is a net of an amount of kshs 120,000,000 
in respect of a deposit placed with the institute of lawyers in the year 2000 while the institute was 
following up issues related to the stalled residential staff housing project. Although the institute 
has fully provided for this amount as doubtful debts, the matter is still under police investigation. 
A further review of the statements indicates that the interest accumulated over time on the amount 
of kshs 120,000,000 was not taken into account in arriving at the balance.

b.	 Temporary imprest	
The trade and other receivables balance of kshs 510,735,379 as at 30 June 2017 includes temporary 
imprests amounting to kshs 18,308,554.60 which had not been surrendered at the close of the 
financial year. Further, this amount for unsurrendered imprests included kshs7,625,903.65 as 
advances to centers and long outstanding temporary imprest  of kshs 2,795,258.61 which relates to 
officers who have since left the institute.

The public finance Management (National  government) Regulation ,2015 section 93 (5) require a 
holder of temporary imprest to account or surrender  the imprest within seven working days after 
returning  to duty station .

Consequently the management failed to comply with the public Finance Management (National 
government) Regulation, 2015Section 93(5) on requirement of temporary imprest.
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c.	 Unsupported impairment Allowances
Excluded from trade and other receivables balance of kshs.510, 735,379 is Kshs 163,609,492 in 
respect of impairment allowance which has not been supported.

d.	 Unsupported over Remitted Statutory Deductions
Included in trade and other receivables balance of kshs.510, 735,379 is kshs.276,563 which relates 
to over remitted statutory deduction (withholding tax) which has not been explained or supported.

In the circumstances it has not been possible to confirm the validity and accuracy of the trade and 
other receivables balance of kshs.510, 735,379 included in the statement of financial position and 
whether the same is fairly stated as at 30 June 2017.

10.	 Property, plant and equipment
a.	 Land 

As previously reported the property plant and equipment balance of kshs 19,920,505,937 included 
in the statement  of financial position as at 30 June 2017 includes various parcels of land totaling 
kshs.4,240,135,760 as summarized below.

NO. LOCATION COUNTRY ACREAGE VALUATION 
(KSHS)

1 Mbagathi Road Nairobi 2,4282Ha 4,143,768,160
2 Taita Taveta Taita Taveta 15Acres 8,400,000
3 Busia Busia 100 Acres 87,967,600
Total 4,240,135,760

    

However ,the title/ownership documents in respect of the above parcels of land were not availed 
for audit verification.

b.	 Residential Staff Housing
As similarly reported in year 2014/2015.the property, plant and equipment balance of 
kshs.19,920,505,937 AS AT 30 June 2017 also includes a staff housing project valued at kshs 
.476,001,556 LOCATED ON A 2.4282 ha area along Mbagathi  Road –Nairobi and against which 
a developer had used the tittle  documents as collateral to borrow funds  from National Bank of 
Kenya .in an effort to have the documents discharged , and as similarly reported in 2014/15,the 
government  spent a sum of kshs 280 million in the year 1993 and a further amount of kshs.142 
million in the year 2000 towards settling the developer account with the bank ,however in spite  of 
payments totaling kshs 422 million having been made thus settling the debt in full ,the documents 
had not been discharged  to KEMRI as at 30 June 2017

In the circumstance, it has not been possible to ascertain the ownership status of the parcels  of 
land and whether the property plant and equipment balance of kshs 19,920,505,937 as at 30 June 
2017 is fairly stated.

11.	 Intangible Assets Software
a.	 Payment for intangible Assets not delivered.

As reported in the year 2014/2015 included in the statement of financial position as at 30 June 
2017 is intangible asset which had cost Kshs.68,151,763 AS PER NOTE 22 and out of which 
Kshs 22,904,126 relate  to payment for an enterprise Resource Planning (ERP)software  for use 
in KEMRI 14 modules .KEMRI had sourced for this service  from M/S Alliance Technologies  on 
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24th August 2011 at a contract of sum  kshs 24,865,500 .the installation and commissioning of this 
software  was to take one year up to  2nd July 2012. Despite the 92% payment of the contract sum 
by 30th June 2017. It was observed that only 4 out of 14 modules had been installed .It was further 
noticed that even the 4 modules installed were not in operation, KEMRI therefore had paid and 
amortized intangible assets not received.

A review of the intangible assets movement schedule disclose in note 22 to the financial statements 
revealed an impairment loss of kshs 5,822,232 which had not been  supported nor explained.

Consequently ,it has not possible to confirm the validity and accuracy of the intangible asset net 
book value of kshs.3,085,093 in the statement of financial position  as at 30 June 2017

12.	 Trade and other payables
Included  in the trade and other payables balance of kshs.212,760,116 in the statement of financial 
position as at 30th June  2107 is kshs 787,928 in respect  of  advance to centers kshs 240,000 in 
respect of salary in advance kshs 27,618 in respect of salary advance to employees  and kshs 
5,246,854 in respect of temporary imprests which were not supported.

Further ,the trade and other payables balance of kshs.212,760,116 includes unremitted  statutory 
deductions of kshs5,136,244 as disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements  which Is payable 
to Kenya  revenue authority  and which has been supported .

In the circumstances it has been possible to confirm the accuracy of trade and other payables 
balance of kshs 212,760,116 included in the statement of financial position at 30 June 2017

13.	 Unsupported Deferred Income
Included in the statement of financial position  as at 30th June 2017 is deferred income of kshs 
25,125,898 .Information  available  indicate that a total of kshs 224,000,000 was deferred  in 2015-
2016 financial year and with a change  to kshs25,125,898 an amount of kshs 198,874,102 was 
expected  to be transfer to statement  of financial  performance. A review of statement of financial 
performance for the period ending 30 June 2017 showed there was no transfer from deferred 
income .It was therefore not possible to confirm now kshs 198,874,102 deemed to have been 
transferred from deferred income was accounted for.

In the absence of support documents, it has not been possible to confirm accuracy of the deferred 
income balance of kshs 25,125,898 included in the statement of financial position as at 30 June 
2017.

14.	 Unsupported Collaborators   
Included in the statement of financial position as at 30th June 2017 is collaborators fund balance 
of kshs 834,772,884. A review of schedules supporting the same showed an opening  and closing 
balance of kshs 491,402,509 and kshs 276,975,507 which  when compared  against the prior year 
and current year closing balances of kshs 507,885,802 and kshs 834,772,884 result to unsupported 
difference of kshs 16,483,293 and kshs 457,797,377 respectively, which  has not been explained . 
A further review of the supporting schedules showed un explained debt  or overpayments brought 
forward and carried down  of kshs 56,002,126 and kshs 161,400,476  respectively  .

15.	 KEMRI NCG- Service level Agreement Loss
As previously reported in the year In the absence of supporting documents .It has not been possible 
to confirm the accuracy of the collaborators funds balance of kshs 834,772,884 in the statement of 
the financial position  as at 30 June 2017
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2015/2016 the institute signed an MOU with Nairobi City Government (N.C.G) and subsequently 
entered into a service level Agreement (SLA) effective 11th March 2015 with an objective to 
collaborating with one another to improve standards of testing food handlers in the country of 
Nairobi with a view of ensuring provision of quality and hygienic services  to the residents of the 
county.

The institute committed itself to clause 7.7(service level credits /penalties) that stipulated that 
KEMRI  were to examine  50,000 food handlers per month which translate to 50,000,000 at the 
charge rate of kshs 1,000 per client .The amount was to be shared in the ratio of 75:25 for KEMRO 
and Nairobi County government respectively. Out of KEMRI  share of kshs 750 per client ,Kshs 
500  was to cater fot operational costs. The clause further stipulated that should KEMRI  fail to 
reach the target of 50,000 people they were to forfeit their share of the proceeds so as to cover 
Nairobi County Government share fully. This clause appears to have favored he Nairobi County 
Government given that the target of 50,000 people that KEMRI was expected to certify was 
unrealistic and was based on any baseline survey.

Further, a scrutiny of the implementation process for the last 10 months revealed that only a target 
of 83,665 people was realized as opposed to a target of 518,000 people expected translating to a 
shortfall of 434,335 people. The shortfall resulted to KEMRI owing kshs.120, 000,000 to Nairobi 
county Government emanating from this biased service level Agreement. This may result to a loss 
of kshs. 120,000,000 should KEMRI pay Nairobi county government since there was no service 
rendered on the amount owing.

16.	 Partial Deliveries- Food Handlers Programme
As previously reported, included in administrative costs of kshs. 396,657,988 in the statement of 
financial performance for the previous year ended 30 June 2016 is a payment of kshs.10, 123,000 
paid in full vide payment vouches numbers, 38 and 56 for consumables ordered from various 
suppliers. It was, however, established that the consumables worth kshs.5, 119,952 paid for had 
been delivered. Further, the inspection and acceptance certificate, goods receipts notes and delivery 
notes used to support this irregular payment had been acknowledged by the KEMRI management.

In the circumstances, it has not been possible to confirm what action the management has initiated 
to recover the amount involved.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial 
statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with international public sector accounting standards (Accrual Basis) and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the institute’s 
ability to continue as going concern/sustain survives, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern/sustain of services and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
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management either intends to liquidate going concern basis of accounting unless the management 
either intends to liquidate the institute’s or to cease operations, or have no alternative but to do so.

Management is also responsible for submission of the financial statements to the Auditor-General 
in accordance with the provision of section 47 0f the public Audit, 2015.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the institute’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditor-Generals Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

My responsibility is to conduct an audit of the institute’s financial statements in accordance with 
international standards of supreme Audit Institutions (ISSAIs) and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion in accordance with the provisions of section 48 of the Public Audit Act, 
2015 and submits the audit report in compliance with Article 229(7) of the constitution. However, 
because of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of my report, I was 
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on 
these financial statements.

I am independent of Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI) in accordance with ISSAI 30 on 
code of Ethics. I have fulfilled other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the ISSAI and in 
accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements 
in Kenya.

___________________________				    ________________

Auditor General							       Date
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1 1 . 	 S T A T E M E N T  O F  F I N A N C I A L 
P E R F O R M A N C E F O R  T H E  Y E A R 
E N D E D  3 0 t h  J U N E  2 0 1 7

 Note Page  2016-2017  2015-2016
RESTATED

Kshs Kshs

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Gok funding 3 12 1,834,962,265 1,806,412,265 

Collaborators funds 4 12 4,466,193,289 4,649,212,778 

Sundry income -  overhead 5  12 138,596,264 104,958,929 

Total from non-exchange transactions   6,439,751,818 6,560,583,971 

Revenue from exchange transactions 6 12 102,202,264 256,487,932 

Total revenue   6,541,954,082 6,817,071,903 

Expenses  

Employee costs 7 12       
1,513,076,142 1,518,112,135 

Expenses Collaborators funds 8 12              
4,466,193,289  4,649,212,778 

Administrative Costs 9 14 325,851,297 396,657,988 

Operating Cost 10 14         
131,839,210 182,270,726 

Boards Expenses 11 14 23,772,966 17,250,064 

Depreciation and amortization expense 12 14           
109,786,985 120,679,420 

Total expenses 6,570,519,889 6,884,183,111 

Other gains/(losses)  

Gain on sale of Asset 20 17                          
-    342,000 

Surplus/( deficit) for the period   (28,565,808)  (66,769,206)
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1 2 . 	 S T A T E M E N T  O F  F I N A N C I A L 
P O S I T I O N A S  A T  3 0  J U N E  2 0 1 7

   2016-2017  2015-2016
RESTATED

Assets Note Page Kshs Kshs

Current assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 18 16 1,011,609,704 1,130,461,704

Short term deposits 13 14 530,000,000 30,000,000

Trade and other receivables 16 15 512,160,651 630,574,483

    2,053,770,355      1,791,036,187 

Non-current assets      

Property, plant and equipment 21 19 
 

19,920,333,820
 

19,973,768,392

Intangible assets 22 20  3,085,093 325,143 

Investment property 23 20  936,636,083  946,662,719 

                 
20,860,054,996 

       
20,920,756,254 

Total assets   22,913,825,351  22,711,792,441 

Liabilities      

Current liabilities      

Trade and other payables 14 15        212,875,897          109,689,111 

Refundable deposits from customers 15 15            33,794,115                   
18,594,071 

Deferred Income 2 11 25,125,898  224,000,000 

Collaborators funds 17 15 817,997,524 507,885,802 

Bank Overdraft 19 17 1,567,560 593,291 

Total liabilities   1,091,360,994 860,762,275 

       

Net assets    21,822,464,357 21,851,030,166 
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Capital replacement  development reserve 4    2,830,585,270     2,830,585,270

Revaluation Reserve 4   17,371,506,618     17,371,506,618

Accumulated surplus 4  1,620,372,469 1,648,938,277 

Total net assets and liabilities     21,822,464,357 21,851,030,165 

The Financial Statements set out on pages 1 to 21 were signed on behalf of the Board of Directors by:

Director /C.E.O	 Head of Finance Chairman

Name: Name: Name:

Date....................................... Date....................................... Date.......................................
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1 4 . 	 S T A T E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F L O W S A S 
A T  3 0  J U N E  2 0 1 7

 2016-2017  2015-2016
RESTATED

Kshs Kshs

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts    

Gok funding                   1,834,962,265           1,806,412,265 

Collaborators funds         4,466,193,289         4,649,212,778 

Sundry income                    138,596,264  104,958,929 

Interest on Investment                6,313,232                11,473,232 

Rental Income              29,554,988                29,354,878 

Revenue Generating Activities              46,453,374              156,193,805 

Graduate Program (ITROMID)              19,328,800                57,637,700 

Miscellaneous Income                   551,870                  1,828,317 

Total Receipts                    6,541,954,082            6,817,071,904 

Payments    

Compensation of employees                    1,513,076,142           1,518,112,135 

Expenses on Collaborators funds                   4,466,193,289            4,649,212,778 

Administrative costs            325,851,297              396,657,988 

Operating costs            131,839,210              182,270,726 

Board Expenses              23,772,966                17,250,064 

Other expenses                         

Total Payments                    6,460,732,904           6,763,503,690 

Surplus before Working Capital Changes                       81,221,177                53,568,214 
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Working Capital Changes    

 Increase/Decrease in receivables                       118,413,832         (403,884,771)

 increase  in Short term deposits                     (500,000,000)             70,000,000 

 Increase in payables                       103,186,786             61,905,683 

 Decrease in Deferred Income                     (198,874,102)

Increase in Refundable deposits from customers                         15,200,044                3,177,347 

 Decrease/Increase in bank overdraft                               974,269           (63,532,446)

 Increase in Collaborators Funds - payment received in advance                       310,111,722           140,031,246 

Net cash flows from operating activities                       (69,766,271)                85,265,275

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets                      (43,263,497)              (51,912,681)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and                                      -                             
640,000 

Decrease in non-current receivables       -                                   -   

Increase in investments                                      -                                    -   

Impairment loss on tangible assets                        (5,822,232)                                 -   

Net cash flows used in investing activities                      (49,085,729)              (51,272,681)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings                                      -    

Repayment of borrowings                                      -    

Increase in deposits                                      -                    
    - 

Net cash flows used in financing activities                                      -                      
  -

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                       (118,852,000)                 33,992,593 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 JULY 2016                    1,130,461,704             
1,096,469,111 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 JUNE 2017                    1,011,609,704            1,130,461,704
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S T A T E M E N T S

1.	 Statement of compliance and basis of preparation – IPSAS 1

The Institute’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply with International 
Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). The financial statements are presented in Kenya shillings, 
which is the functional and reporting currency of the Institute. The institute has changed from IFRS to 
IPSAS in order to comply with the Public Finance Act (2000) 

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, unless stated otherwise. The 
cash flow statement is prepared using the direct method. The financial statements are prepared on accrual 
basis.

2.	 Summary of significant accounting policies

a)	 Revenue recognition

i)	 Revenue from non-exchange transactions – IPSAS 23

Transfers from other government entities

Revenues from non-exchange transactions from Exchequer and other collaborative partners are 
measured at fair value and recognized on obtaining control of the asset cash, if the transfer is 
free from conditions and it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential related to 
the asset will flow to the Institute and can be measured reliably.

ii)	 Revenue from exchange transactions – IPSAS 9

Rendering of services

The Institute recognizes revenue from rendering of services by reference to the stage of 
completion when the outcome of the transaction can be estimated reliably. 

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods and when the 
amount of revenue can be measured reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Institute

iii)	 Interest income

Interest income is accrued using the effective yield method. The effective yield discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s 
net carrying amount. The method applies this yield to the principal outstanding to determine 
interest income each period.
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b)	 Budget information – IPSAS 24

The annual budget is prepared on the accrual basis, that is, all planned costs and income are 
presented in a single statement to determine the needs of the Institute As a result of the adoption 
of the accrual basis for budgeting purposes, there are no basis, timing or Institute differences that 
would require reconciliation between the actual comparable amounts and the amounts presented 
as a separate additional financial statement in the statement of comparison of budget and actual 
amounts. 

c)	 Investment property – IPSAS 16

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying 
amount includes the replacement cost of components of an existing investment property at the 
time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day 
maintenance of an investment property.

Investment properties are derecognized either when they have been disposed of or when the 
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit or service 
potential is expected from its disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset is recognized in the surplus or deficit in the period of de-recognition.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use.

d)	 Property, plant and equipment – IPSAS 17

All property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. When 
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the 
Institute recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates 
them accordingly. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in 
the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are 
satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in surplus or deficit as incurred. 
Where an asset is acquired in a non-exchange transaction for nil or nominal consideration the 
asset is initially measured at its fair value. Depreciation of fixed assets is calculated to write down 
the cost over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The rates are as follows:

Office and residential buildings			   1.0%
Office and medical equipment			   2.5%
Office furniture					     2.5%
Motor Vehicle					    5%
Computer and related equipment			   25%
Boat						      5%
Intangible assets–IPSAS 31				    25%

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognized at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a non-exchange transaction is their fair value at the date of the exchange. Following 
initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and 
accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortized at the rate of 25% with an 
expected life of four years. The useful life of the intangible assets is assessed as either finite or 
indefinite.
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e)	 Research and development costs

The Institute expenses research costs as incurred. Development costs on an individual project are 
recognized as intangible assets when the Institute can demonstrate:

	The technical feasibility of completing the asset so that the asset will be available for use or 
sale

	Its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset
	How the asset will generate future economic benefits or service potential
	The availability of resources to complete the asset
	The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development

Following initial recognition of an asset, the asset is carried at cost less any accumulated amortization 
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins when development is complete 
and the asset is available for use. It is amortized over the period of expected future benefit. During 
the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annually with any impairment losses 
recognized immediately in surplus or deficit.  

f)	 Provisions – IPSAS 19
Provisions are recognized when the Institute has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or 
service potential will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

Where the Institute expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an 
insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset only when the reimbursement 
is virtually certain.

The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of financial performance net of 
any reimbursement.

Contingent liabilities

The Institute does not recognize a contingent liability, but discloses details of any contingencies in 
the notes to the financial statements, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits or service potential is remote.

g)	 Nature and purpose of reserves

The Institute creates and maintains reserves in terms of specific requirements. Institute to state the 
reserves maintained and appropriate policies adopted.

h)	 Changes in accounting policies and estimates – IPSAS 3

The Institute recognizes the effects of changes in accounting policy retrospectively. The graduate 
school academic year starts in May. Previously, the revenue was recognized in full at the beginning 
of the academic year but in the year under review the revenue has been apportioned to the two 
financial years. 
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i)	 Employee benefits – IPSAS 25

Retirement benefit plans

The Institute provides retirement benefits for its employees. Defined contribution plans are 
postemployment benefit plans under which an Institute pays fixed contributions into a separate 
Institute (a fund administrator), and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to 
employee service in the current and prior periods. The contributions to fund obligations for the 
payment of retirement benefits are charged against income in the year in which they become 
payable.

Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other than defined-contribution plans. The 
defined benefit funds are actuarially valued tri-annually on the projected unit credit method basis. 
Deficits identified are recovered through lump sum payments or increased future contributions 
on proportional basis to all participating employers. The contributions and lump sum payments 
reduce the post-employment benefit obligation.

j)	 Foreign currency transactions – IPSAS 4

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially accounted for at the ruling rate of exchange on the 
date of the transaction. 

k)	 Service concession arrangements – IPSAS 32

The Institute analyses all aspects of service concession arrangements that it enters into in 
determining the appropriate accounting treatment and disclosure requirements. In particular, 
where a private party contributes an asset to the arrangement, the Institute recognizes that asset 
when, and only when, it controls or regulates the services the operator must provide together with 
the asset, to whom it must provide them, and at what price. In the case of assets other than ’whole-
of-life’ assets, it controls, through ownership, beneficial entitlement or otherwise – any significant 
residual interest in the asset at the end of the arrangement. Any assets so recognized are measured 
at their fair value. To the extent that an asset has been recognized, the Institute also recognizes a 
corresponding liability, adjusted by a cash consideration paid or received.

l)	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, short-term deposits on call 
and highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less, which are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
Bank account balances include at various commercial banks at the end of the financial year. For 
the purposes of these financial statements, cash and cash equivalents also include short term cash 
imprests and advances to authorised public officers and/or institutions which were not surrendered 
or accounted for at the end of the financial year.

m)	 Comparative figures

Where necessary comparative figures for the previous financial year have been amended or 
reconfigured to conform to the required changes in presentation.
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n)	 Subsequent events – IPSAS 14

Civil Application No: Nai, 204 of 2014 (Ur 160/2014) – KEMRI Vs Samson Gwer and 5 Others

In this application, a judgment was passed on 18th July, 2014 by the Industrial Court of Kenya 
that the six (6) petitioners are entitled to a total sum of KES 30, 000,000 in compensation for 
violation of their rights under Article 23 of the constitution. The institute immediately appealed 
the judgment, and a stay of execution was granted by Hon Justice Mathew N. Nduma of 18th July, 
2014 industrial Court on condition that a sum of KES 30, 000,000 be deposited in a fixed account.

o)	 Other Deposits

Included in the payable is a figure of Kes. 29,362,115 being other deposits. These are funds held on 
behalf of beneficiaries of deceased members of staff.

  
 (p) Deferred income IAS 20

Government grants are a financing device and should be dealt with as such in the statement of 
financial position rather than be recognized in Statement of Financial performance to offset the 
items of expense that they finance. Because no repayment is expected, such grants should be 
recognized outside Statement of Financial Performance. The government granted research fund 
totalling to Kes 224Million in year ending 30 th June 2016 the research fund has to be used in a 
period of three years.  The   statement of financial position and statement of financial performance 
for year ending 2015/2016 has been restated to reflect deferred income of Kes 224 M
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

NOTE  INCOME               2017 2016

RESTATED

   REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE 
TRANSACTIONS 

                       
(KES.)                      (KES.) 

3 Exchequer Funding
Recurrent  1,799,462,265  1,672,462,265 
Development     35,500,000     133,950,000 
Exchequer Research Grants  -       
Total Exchequer Funding   1,834,962,265   1,806,412,265

4  Collaborators Funds   4,466,193,289  4,649,212,778 
5  Sundry Income - Overheads     138,596,264     104,958,929 

 Subtotal               (1)  6,439,751,818   6,560,583,971
6  Revenue from exchange transactions 

 Interest on Investment  6,313,232       11,473,232 
 Rental Income  29,554,988       29,354,878 
 Revenue Generating Activities  46,453,374     156,193,805 
 Graduate Program (ITROMID)  19,328,800       57,637,700 
 Miscellaneous Income  551,870         1,828,317 
 Subtotal                (2)  102,202,264     256,487,932 
 Total Income (1+2)  6,541,954,082   6,817,071,903

7  Employee costs 
 Personal emoluments  824,788,456     866,354,482 
 Gratuity & pension contribution  137,151,352     152,863,080 
 House allowance  273,072,833     255,411,703 
 Other allowance  168,319,575     134,482,219 
 Medical allowance  4,141,160       16,397,832 
 Passages & leave  6,948,500         7,122,000 
 Staff Insurance  16,312,964       16,389,620 
 Medical Cover  82,341,303       69,091,199 
     1,513,076,142  1,518,112,135 

8  Expenses on Collaborators Funds 
 Staff Costs  3,256,693,918        3,182,468,900 
 Bank Charges  2,323,295               1,587,774 
 Training  44,396,074             32,228,973
 Laboratory Supplies  93,172,932             54,487,308 
 Travelling and Accommodation  211,463,962           143,108,422 
 Motor Vehicle Expenses  21,498,838             18,073,243 
 Purchase of assets  14,208,079               5,791,841 
 Other Operating Expenses  822,436,191        1,211,466,317 

 4,466,193,289        4,649,212,778 
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9  Administrative Costs 
 Transport  19,222,058       17,520,095 
 Travelling & accommodation  30,300,929       36,920,834 
 Legal expenses  11,083,791         5,501,921 
 External travelling & accommodation.  9,256,880       10,573,816 
 Postal & telegrams  59,386            671,329 
 Telephones  2,923,672         4,194,481 
 Official entertainment  1,832,826                      -   
 Conferences  5,704,717       10,797,372 
 Electricity  58,697,623       57,797,784 
 Water & conservancy  9,367,989         9,958,777 
 Purchase of consumable stores  6,241,877         7,323,209 
 Publishing & printing  871,505         2,103,849 
 Purchase of uniforms & clothing  1,010,473            409,436 
 Library Expenses  1,308,094            957,056 
 Purchase of stationery  5,683,511         8,748,256 
 Advertising, publicity & shows  7,050,299         6,793,711 
 Industrial Diesel  668,590            692,060 
 Rents and rates  3,233,306         1,820,633 
 Computer Expenses  8,595,152         8,197,370 
 Internet service  13,474,688       11,073,108 
 Miscellaneous  1,850,271         2,449,981 
 Audit Fees  812,000            812,000 
 Fees Commission & Honoraria   8,990,614       14,239,419 
 Training  8,744,722       10,505,933 
 Insurance - Fire and burglary         1,161,641 
 Insurance - Motor Vehicle  7,934,011         7,156,025 
 Security Expenses  31,967,328       28,823,948 
 Maintenance. -Plant, mach.& equip.  2,345,375         7,666,149 
 Maintenance - buildings & stations  6,915,003         4,941,059 
 Maintenance of Water &Sewer  2,576,941            429,900 
 Prevention of Drugs & Substance Abuse                      -   
 Contracted Services - Cleaning  19,535,066       19,793,588 
 Financial control & Inspections  3,877,495         1,609,505 
 Staff Welfare  4,862,335       11,249,929 
 Strategic Initiatives  14,311,072         8,998,388 
 Strategic Plan & Vision 2030            320,000 
 Subscriptions & Membership Fees  2,106,252         2,552,844 
 Gender Mainstreaming  485,600            951,462 
 Disability Mainstreaming  518,794            155,400 
 Bank Charges 1,386,977            715,809 
 Valuation of Fixed Assets  736,883         5,533,330 
 Devolution Expenses  749,924         2,822,962 
 Remittances-JKUAT  3,786,184       13,384,714 
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 CCR catering services            754,860 
 Food Handlers Operating Cost       17,574,045 
Provision for contingency liabilities 30,000,000
Human Resource Consultancy 4,771,084 -

     325,851,297     396,657,988
10  Operating costs 

 Laboratory reagents & supplies 12,816,398 45,510,306
 Purchase of drugs & dressings          3,382,349         5,852,699 
 Production          6,665,000 
 Purchase of animal feeds  568,989        1,278,430 
 Research Programs -Internal  59,772,316       81,315,124 
 Research funding  55,299,158       41,649,167 

131,839,210         182,270,726 

11  Boards Expenses                       
 Sitting Allowance  10,582,000 6,260,000
 Travel & Accommodation  10,519,737 9,393,072
 Official Entertainment  1,099,871 564,992
 Insurance  539,358 -
 Honoraria  960,000 960,000
 Telephone  72,000 72,000

 23,772,966 17,250,064

12  Depreciation 
 Property Plant and Equipment  96,698,067       93,614,843 
 Investment Property  10,026,636       10,026,636 
 Intangible Assets  3,062,282       17,037,941 

 109,786,985    120,679,420 

13 Short-term deposits
Fixed Deposit – Kenya Commercial Bank 30,000,000              30,000,000 
Fixed Deposit – CBK Treasury Bills	  500,000,000
Total Short-term Deposit         530,000,000                             30,000,000 

14 Trade and other payables 
 Graduate School prepayments  24,522,060        19,501,885 
 Research Fees  326,807                   326,807 
Mortgage Scheme  51,846,166                       -   
 Payable to RG(FHP)  -            1,844,202 
 Advances to Centres  787,928                2,108,327 
 Unremitted staff deductions  -Insurance  2,152,262                2,103,924 
 Un-remitted Statutory Deductions  33,663,556                3,787,873 
 Provision for audit fees  -                  1,582,000 
 Retention Money 13,660,329 19,254,185
 Staff Over deductions 12,645,868                7,179,384 
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 Fines & Surcharge                      20,150 
 Suppliers Control Account 73,270,922             21,980,374 
Contingency liabilities 30,000,000

212,875,897             109,689,111 

15 Refundable deposits from customers 2017 2016
   Caution Money  4,432,000 4,328,000
   Other Deposits  29,362,115 14,266,071

  Total deposits  33,794,115 18,594,071

16   Trade and other receivables 2017 2016
 Graduate school – Outstanding Fees          123,963,940         130,094,415 
 Interest Receivable              1,240,381             4,424,192 
 Capitation-Recurrent         139,371,855         278,743,711 
 Advances to Centers                  954,933                14,436,574 
 Staff advances           42,599,237           36,388,391 
 Sande Makhandia & Co. Advocates         120,000,000         120,000,000 
 Over remitted Statutory  Deduction 333,435                628,190 
 Donor – Accrued Income 141,600,121         202,396,360 
 Customers/suppliers Control Account 105,706,241 7,072,141
Total Receivables          675,770,143         794,183,974 
Less: Impairment allowance         163,609,492         163,609,491 
Total Receivables from non-exchange transactions         512,160,651         630,574,483 

16(a) Bad debt
ITROMID Students 43,609,49     43,609,491

Sande Makhandia 120,000,000 120,000,000
Total deposits 163,609,491 163,609,491

17 Collaborators Funds
Fixed deposit account 30,000,000 30,000,000
 Other Deposits 787,997,524 477,885,802
Total deposits 817,997,524 507,885,802

18 Cash and cash equivalents
 Bank (Note 21b) 1,011,609,704 1,130,446,704
 Cash-on-hand and in transit (Note 18a) 15,000
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,011,609,704 1,130,461,704

18 (a) Cash in Hand

Account Number    
Kenya Commercial Bank

Exchequer                         1104161362            -            15,000
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18 (b) Cash at Bank

Account Number    
Kenya Commercial Bank

Exchequer                         1104161362  245,881,843            149,311,050 
ITROMID Account 1104167611  77,639,528            165,777,173 
RGA 1104174529  16,750,782               17,763,756 
External Grants 1104158574  177,437,663            281,847,484 
Production Department 1104166194  12,497,755                    684,040 
IPM 1110258925  135,504                    860,519 
KEMRI CDC 1104175975  409,629                 7,841,429 
Conference Collection 1112776850 825,114
Local Grants 1104161966  117,212,522               74,066,372 
Dollar Account 1168110491  4,693,750                                -   
Euro Account 1170930956  17,467,856 
CDC/Non Grants Accounts 1123818177  32,887,415               27,862,105 
Welcome Trust 1110259204  8,910,882                 6,980,776 
CDC Research Grants 1101722291  11,003,605               37,903,262 
Mortgage Account 46000014289 270,842,272            317,616,687 
Cooperative bank
CNHR RLGA 1128126178201  1,192,119                 1,191,217 
CNHR RLGA 1128126178200  3,750,014                                -   
CNHR RLGA ,1128126178202  284,541                    284,651 
CNGR RLGA 1128126178203  2,592                         2,702 
KEMRI IPM SUBA 1128126178700  1,088,704                 1,099,870 
KEMRI EAST AFRICA 1128126671100  5,097,724               38,258,948 
KEMRI/EDCPT ,1128127558400  269,439                    269,549 
Total   1,011,609,704         1,130,446,704

19 Overdrafts

Bank Account KSHS KSHS
1128126178200 10,210
1112776850 1,567,560 -
46000012346 583,080
1110258925 -
1101722291 -
TOTAL 1,567,560 593,291

20. Gain on disposal of Motor Vehicle

Accumulated Depreciation 1,472,000

Proceeds on sale 640,000

Disposed Assets at cost (1,770,000)

Gain on Disposal 342,000



57
Pa

ge
 N

o

N
O

T
E

S 
TO

 T
H

E
 F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L 

ST
AT

E
M

E
N

T
S 

(C
on

tin
ue

d)

21
.P

ro
pe

rt
y,

 p
la

nt
 a

nd
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t L
an

d 
an

d 
B

ui
ld

in
gs

 O
ffi

ce
 B

ui
ld

in
g 

 M
ot

or
 V

eh
ic

le
 

 M
ot

or
 B

oa
t 

C
om

pu
te

rs
 O

ffi
ce

 
Fu

rn
itu

re
 

O
ffi

ce
 &

 
M

ed
ic

al
 

E
qu

ip
m

en
t 

To
ta

l

C
os

t
 

 
Sh

s 

A
t 1

Ju
ly

 2
01

5 
   

22
7,

64
2,

50
0 

  2
,2

12
,4

08
,5

38
 

   
   

23
3,

98
4,

60
0 

   
  2

,6
38

,1
03

 
  6

5,
46

3,
66

3 
  8

1,
45

4,
22

9 
 7

49
,5

05
,9

76
 

 3
,5

73
,0

97
,6

09
 

A
dd

iti
on

s
   

   
-   

   
   

   
   

 -   
   

   
  2

9,
27

8,
19

6 
 - 

  3
,1

68
,1

65
 

  3
,2

65
,7

80
 

 1
6,

10
9,

29
5 

   
  5

1,
82

1,
43

6 

D
is

po
sa

ls
   

   
   

   
   

 -   
   

   
   

 -   
   

 (1
,7

70
,0

00
)

 - 
  -

   
  -

   
   

-   
   

   
(1

,7
70

,0
00

)

Tr
an

sf
er

s/
ad

ju
st

m
en

ts
 

  -
   

   
   

   
 -   

 
   

-   
  -

   
   

   
-   

   
   

-   

R
ev

al
ua

tio
n

  1
5,

54
0,

29
1,

38
0 

   
   

 1
,6

24
,8

03
,3

03
 

   
   

   
-   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

  -
   

 - 
  -

   
17

,1
65

,0
94

,6
83

 

A
t 3

0th
 J

un
e 

20
16

  1
5,

76
7,

93
3,

88
0 

   
   

 3
,8

37
,2

11
,8

41
 

 2
61

,4
92

,7
96

 
   

2,
63

8,
10

3 
   

  6
8,

63
1,

82
8 

   
 8

4,
72

0,
00

9 
   

 7
65

,6
15

,2
71

 
 2

0,
78

8,
24

3,
72

8 

A
dd

iti
on

s
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 -   
 2

,8
27

,9
60

 
   

   
   

9,
16

9,
07

5 
 - 

   
   

  4
,9

16
,2

51
 

   
   

8,
04

6,
77

7 
   

   
18

,4
75

,5
49

 
   

 4
3,

43
5,

61
2 

D
is

po
sa

ls
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 -   

 - 
 - 

   
   

   
   

   
 -   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 -   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 -   
   

   
-   

Tr
an

sf
er

/a
dj

us
tm

en
ts

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-   
   

   
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
   

-   
   

   
   

   
 -   

   
   

   
 -   

   
   

   
   

   
 -   

A
t 3

0th
 J

un
e 

20
17

 1
5,

76
7,

93
3,

88
0 

   
3,

84
0,

03
9,

80
1 

   
27

0,
66

1,
87

1 
   

   
 2

,6
38

,1
03

 
  7

3,
54

8,
07

9 
  9

2,
76

6,
78

6 
  7

84
,0

90
,8

20
 

 2
0,

83
1,

67
9,

34
0 

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
an

d 
im

pa
ir

m
en

t
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

A
t 1

Ju
ly

 2
01

5
   

   
   

-   
   

   
26

0,
18

3,
48

7 
 9

6,
84

5,
11

3 
 5

27
,6

20
 

 1
5,

65
5,

69
8 

 6
2,

50
9,

08
4 

   
 2

86
,6

11
,4

91
 

72
2,

33
2,

49
3 

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n
   

   
   

   
   

-   
   

 3
8,

37
2,

11
8 

13
,0

74
,6

40
 

   
13

1,
90

5 
   

  1
,7

15
,7

96
 

  2
1,

18
0,

00
2 

  1
9,

31
2,

49
9 

  9
3,

78
6,

96
0 



58 Annual Report  |  Financial Statements   |   2016 - 2017Page No

D
is

po
sa

l
   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
(1

,4
72

,0
00

)
 

   
-   

   
  -

   
   

   
   

  -
   

   
   

   
(1

,4
72

,0
00

)

Im
pa

irm
en

t
   

   
 -   

-   
 - 

 - 
   

   
   

 -   
   

   
 -   

   
   

   
   

 -   
   

   
   

   
   

-   

A
t 3

0th
 J

un
e2

01
6

 1
5,

76
7,

93
3,

88
0 

   
29

8,
55

5,
60

5 
 1

08
,4

47
,7

53
 

   
  6

59
,5

25
 

 1
7,

37
1,

49
4 

  8
3,

68
9,

08
6 

   
 3

05
,9

23
,9

90
 

   
81

4,
64

7,
45

3 

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n
   

   
   

 -   
   

 3
8,

40
0,

39
8 

 1
3,

53
3,

09
4 

   
 1

31
,9

05
 

   
   

1,
83

8,
70

2 
 2

3,
19

1,
69

7 
   

19
,6

02
,2

71
 

   
   

96
,6

98
,0

67
 

D
is

po
sa

ls
   

   
  -

   
 - 

   
   

  -
   

 - 
   

 -   
 - 

   
   

   
  -

   
 

Im
pa

irm
en

t
   

   
   

-   
   

   
 -   

   
   

   
-   

 - 
  -

   
 - 

   
-   

 

Tr
an

sf
er

/a
dj

us
tm

en
t

  -
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-   
   

-   
   

   
  -

   
-   

 - 
  -

   
 

A
t 3

0th
 J

un
e 

20
17

   
   

   
   

   
15

,7
67

,9
33

,8
80

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
33

6,
95

6,
00

3 
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

12
1,

98
0,

84
7 

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
79

1,
43

0 
   

   
   

   
   

   
19

,2
10

,1
96

 
   

   
   

  
10

6,
88

0,
78

3 
   

   
   

   
  

32
5,

52
6,

26
1 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

91
1,

34
5,

52
0 

N
et

 b
oo

k 
va

lu
es

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

A
T

 3
0T

H
 J

U
N

E
 2

01
7

  1
5,

76
7,

93
3,

88
0 

 3
,5

03
,0

83
,7

98
 

 1
48

,6
81

,0
24

 
   

1,
84

6,
67

3 
   

54
,3

37
,8

83
 

  (
14

,1
13

,9
97

)
   

45
8,

56
4,

55
9 

  1
9,

92
0,

33
3,

82
0 

A
T

 3
0T

H
  J

U
N

E
20

16
   

 1
5,

76
7,

93
3,

88
0 

   
  3

,5
38

,6
56

,2
36

 
 1

53
,0

45
,0

43
 

  1
,9

78
,5

78
 

 5
1,

26
0,

33
4 

  1
,0

30
,9

23
 

 4
59

,8
63

,3
98

 
   

19
,9

73
,7

68
,3

92
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 



59
Pa

ge
 N

o

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

22.Intangible assets-software

Description 2016-2017 2015-2016

KShs KShs 

Cost

At beginning of the year           68,151,763.00            68,060,518.00 

Additions                              -                     91,245.00 

Write-off         (55,902,632.00)  

At end of the year           12,249,131.00            68,151,763.00 

Additions–internal development                              -                                  -   

At end of the year           12,249,131.00            68,151,763.00 

Amortization and impairment    

At beginning of the year           67,826,620.00            50,788,679.00 

Amortization             3,062,282.00            17,037,941.00 

At end of the year           70,888,902.00            67,826,620.00 

Impairment loss             5,822,232.00                                -   

Write off           55,902,632.00                                -   

At end of the year             9,164,038.00            67,826,620.00 

NBV             3,085,093.00                 325,143.00 

23.Investment property

Description 2016-2017 2015-2016

KShs KShs 

At beginning of the year      1,002,663,552.00          796,251,617.00 

Additions                              -                                  -   

Revaluation                              -            206,411,935.00 

Depreciation         (66,027,469.00)           (56,000,833.00)

At end of the year         936,636,083.00          946,662,719.00 

24. Currency

The financial statements are presented in Kenya Shillings (Kshs).
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